**RECEIVED**

**Mar 22 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Certiorari to Lexington County

Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Circuit Court Judge

---

GENE TONY COOPER,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001149

---

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

---

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the post-conviction relief (PCR) judge err by finding trial counsel was not ineffective when he failed to request and obtain an instruction from the trial court that star witness Robert “Bo” Southerland could not testify concerning Petitioner’s prior armed robbery convictions, since such evidence was inadmissible and unfairly prejudicial, and where Petitioner was prejudiced since he testified at trial and his credibility was crucial to his defense?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner on January 8, 1990 for murder, armed robbery, kidnapping, forgery, and conspiracy to commit armed robbery. App. 1783-1787. His case was called to trial on February 11, 1991. Petitioner was convicted as indicted and sentenced to death on February 22, 1991.

In State v. Cooper, 312 S.C. 90, 439 S.E.2d 276 (1994), our Supreme Court reversed Petitioner's conviction for murder and his death sentence and remanded for a new trial since there was no on the record waiver of Petitioner's right to personally address the jury during the guilt phase of his capital trial. Petitioner's remaining convictions were affirmed. Id.

On September 4, 1995, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) as to his remaining convictions. The PCR court reversed Petitioner's non-capital convictions finding his trial counsel's failure to inform Petitioner of his statutory right to make a closing statement to the jury constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. On August 12, 2002, the Supreme Court upheld the PCR court's grant of relief and remanded for a new trial. Cooper v. Moore, 351 S.C 207, 569 S.E.2d 330 (2002).

After Petitioner's numerous demands for a speedy trial were denied, his case was finally called to trial on May 22, 2006 before the Honorable Daniel F. Pieper, and a jury. App. 345. Assistant Solicitors B. Harrison Bell and Theodore Lupton represented the state. App. 345. David Bruck, John Duncan, and Stuart Andrews represented Petitioner. App. 345.

On June 1, 2006, the jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. App. 1545, l. 15 – 1546, l. 7. He was sentenced to life without parole for murder, twenty five years for armed robbery, and five years for conspiracy. Judge Pieper did not impose a sentence for kidnapping pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910 since Petitioner was sentenced to life for murder. App. 1559, ll. 13-20.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner convictions and sentence. State v. Cooper, 386 S.C. 210, 687 S.E.2d 62 (Ct. App. 2009). On January 12, 2011, the Supreme Court granted a petition for writ of certiorari to review Petitioner's claim that he was denied his right to a speedy trial. However, the Court later dismissed the writ as improvidently granted by order filed November 7, 2012. State v. Cooper, 400 S.C. 256, 734 S.E.2d 166 (2012).

Petitioner then filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court. The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on May 13, 2013. Cooper v. South Carolina, 569 U.S. 976 (2013).

On June 5, 2013, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 1595-1603. The state filed a return to this application dated December 9, 2013. App. 1604-1610. Petitioner filed an amended application on November 17, 2017 and a second amended application on November 29, 2017. App. 1611-1619. An evidentiary hearing was convened on December 11, 2017 before the Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr. App. 1620. Senior Assistant Attorney General William Edgar Salter represented the state, and Kristy Goldberg represented Petitioner. App. 1620. By order filed May 18, 2018, Judge Maddox denied Petitioner relief. App. 1710-1782.

On November 16, 2018, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari with the Supreme Court. The state filed a return to the petition for writ of certiorari on January 28, 2019. By order dated February 11, 2019, the Supreme Court transferred this appeal to the Court of Appeals pursuant to Rule 243(l), SCACR. On February 18, 2021, this Court granted the petition for writ of certiorari as to Question 3 and ordered further briefing pursuant to Rule 243(j), SCACR.

This brief of petitioner follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Robert “Bo” Southerland told anyone who would listen following his own 1992 conviction for the murder, kidnapping, and armed robbery of the decedent, and subsequent death sentence, that he, Southerland, killed the decedent, and that Petitioner, Tony Cooper, was not present.<sup>1</sup> Death row inmate Norman Starnes testified Bo Southerland admitted to him that “Tony didn’t have anything to do with it and Tony was not present when it happened.” App. 1062, l. 19 – 1063, l. 15.

Bessie Davis started a prison ministry after she retired as a school teacher. App. 1069, l. 8 – 1070, l. 5. She and fellow ministry volunteer Naida Knotts often met with Bo Southerland and other death row inmates. App. 1070, ll. 6-23. Davis recalled, “I never asked [Bo Southerland], but he shared with me that he did the crime alone, that Tony did not have anything to do with it.” App. 1074, l. 22 – 1076, l. 5.

Knotts remembered that Southerland told her “he [Southerland] had committed the crime.” App. 1084, ll. 4-22. Although Knotts did not bring up the subject of the murder with Southerland, it piqued her interest. At one point Knotts recalled: “I said, well what about Tony? What did he do? And he [Southerland] said, Well, Tony wasn’t even there. He didn’t have anything to do with it.” App. 1084, l. 9 – 1086, l. 4.

Southerland also admitted under oath during a hearing in 1996 that he murdered the decedent and that no one else was involved. He asserted, “I mean I killed the girl. I did it by myself. I mean, there was no help. There was no witnesses, but, I mean, you know, I’d just like to say that I did kill her by myself. There was nobody else involved but me and Kimberly Quinn [the decedent].” App. 792, l. 5 – 796, l. 5.

---

<sup>1</sup> Southerland’s convictions and death sentence were affirmed in State v. Southerland, 316 S.C. 377, 447 S.E.2d 862 (1994). However, his death sentence was later reversed in Southerland v. State, 337 S.C. 610, 524 S.E.2d 833 (1999).

In April 2006, as the state was preparing to retry Petitioner, Bo Southerland now claimed Petitioner was the killer and he, Southerland, was just along for the ride. In exchange for Southerland's testimony against Petitioner, the state no longer sought the death penalty against him and Southerland had a chance, for the first time since he was indicted, to receive a thirty year sentence upon resentencing. App. 817, l. 13 – 825, l. 9; App. 952, ll. 5-20.

During Petitioner's retrial, Southerland was impeached with his prior written and notarized statement dated April 11, 1992 admitting his guilt, and exculpating Petitioner. App. 755-764; See App. 1581-1584. In this statement, which was read aloud to the jury, Southerland's confession was consistent with what he had told everyone for over a decade—that Petitioner was not with him at the time he knocked the decedent unconscious inside her house and then took her to the pond where he killed her, chopped off her hands and feet with an ax, and burned her body. App. 755-764; App. 1581-1584.

Southerland said Phillip "Red" Farmer told him the decedent was getting a check and that she wanted to buy half a pound of marijuana. App. 756; App. 1581. The price of the marijuana was eight hundred dollars. App. 757; App. 1581. Farmer told Southerland the decedent had been "F'ing up a lot of people's dope. A lot of people didn't feel too good about her. She'd been stepping in people's cocaine . . . That means she'd been cutting the cocaine. Red said, You could kill her." App. 757-758; App. 1581.

In his statement, Southerland admitted, "I thought about how she killed her young'un to get money for drugs. She deserved it. I shot her in the back. . . . I popped another one. I hit her in the back of the neck. . . . I stood back and pumped two more rounds in her head."<sup>2</sup> App. 760-761; App.

---

<sup>2</sup> The decedent's boyfriend, Eugene Carter, was in prison. It was apparently widely believed in the Department of Corrections that she had set fire to her house for insurance money. Her son was apparently killed in the fire. The judge at Petitioner's retrial allowed the jury to hear this

1582-1583. He added, “Why I chopped her hands and feet off I’ll never know. I tried to chop off her head.” App. 761; App. 1583.

Southerland elaborated, “The deal was that if anything came down over this they, Red [Farmer] and [Gerald] LeGrand, were going to blame Tony [Petitioner]. They were mad at Tony because he wouldn’t lend them anymore money. When I was arrested I made a statement putting this on Tony because that’s what everyone had planned to do. The statement that I made to the police was not true. I knew where everything was because I had thrown them there myself. Not because Tony had told me anything.” App. 761-762; App. 1583.

Southerland admitted in this statement that he cashed the decedent’s welfare check at a bank in Cayce. He also found eight hundred dollars in cash (the price of the marijuana) in her purse. He said, “All together, I got about \$1200 worth of money, Valium, and Xanax. I ate the pills myself.” App. 762-763; App. 1583-1584. Southerland later continued, “Tony Cooper didn’t have anything to do with this. I have made this statement because this is the truth. No one contacted me or asked me to make it. Tony Cooper has not pressured or forced me to make this statement and neither has anyone else. After I decided to make this statement, I sent word to Tony Cooper’s lawyer, David Bruck, that I wanted to talk to him. . . . David Bruck told me that I needed to discuss the statement with my own lawyers, because this could hurt my case.” App. 763; App. 1584.

Despite this signed and notarized statement, his prior confession under oath in court, and the fact that he consistently maintained for over a decade that Petitioner was innocent and that he murdered the decedent on his own, Southerland testified at Petitioner’s retrial in May 2006, when it was then possible that he could be sentenced to only thirty years, that all of this was a lie, that

---

same allegation—but not for the truth of the matter asserted—since it was relevant to explain this belief about the decedent and a possible motive for her murder. App. 1150, l. 16 – 1151, l. 15.

Petitioner killed the decedent, and that he, Southerland, was merely present. See App. 698, l. 4 – 717, l. 16. Southerland claimed Petitioner and three other death row inmates, who had all been executed by the time of Petitioner’s retrial, had pressured him into confessing that he was the only one involved. App. 724, ll. 3-22; App. 734, l. 7 – 738, l. 21.

Norman Starnes scoffed at Southerland’s claim that he was scared of Petitioner and therefore told everyone that he killed the decedent, and that Petitioner was not present. Starnes recalled “they [Petitioner and Southerland] interacted just like most of us did.” Starnes remembered that Petitioner at times bought items for other death row inmates including Southerland when Southerland was without any funds. App. 1062, l. 19 – 1064, l. 15. Starnes said Southerland was not coerced into saying anything by Petitioner. App. 1064, l. 16 – 1065, l. 3.

Red Farmer was incarcerated at Central Correctional Institution (CCI) in Columbia in October 1989. App. 954, l. 21 – 955, l. 6. Farmer later pled guilty to criminal conspiracy for his part in the decedent’s death. He faced a sentence of five years imprisonment at the time of Petitioner’s first trial. App. 955, ll. 7-23. While the state failed to secure Farmer’s presence at Petitioner’s retrial in May 2006, his testimony from Petitioner’s first trial was read to the jury.<sup>3</sup> App. 953, l. 18 – 954, l. 10; See App. 954, l. 11 – 981, l. 11 and App. 987, l. 17 – 990, l. 24 .

Farmer’s story was that he conspired with Petitioner to rob the decedent. Farmer claimed he told Petitioner on Wednesday, October 5, 1989 that Eugene Carter, who was the decedent’s boyfriend and who was in prison with Farmer, told him the decedent would be receiving an insurance check for twenty eight hundred dollars. Farmer claimed he told Petitioner “that it would

---

<sup>3</sup> Farmer was incarcerated in Texas during Petitioner’s retrial in May 2006. He had been convicted of manufacturing methamphetamine and possession of more than four hundred grams of methamphetamine. He was sentenced to life in prison. App. 1005, ll. 7-21. The state failed to timely submit paperwork to Texas to arrange for his transportation to South Carolina for the retrial. Consequently, the trial judge ruled Farmer was an unavailable witness and permitted the state to read his prior testimony into the record over Petitioner’s objection.

be good opportunity to rob her.” App. 967, l. 9 – 969, l. 14. Farmer said he was to get five hundred dollars of the insurance money for his part in the robbery. App. 970, ll. 4-10.

Farmer testified that Petitioner called him at CCI on a state phone he had access to because of his work in the library as part of a literacy program. He said he received the call around 10:00 a.m. on Friday, October 6, 1989. App. 971, l. 8 – 972, l. 15. Farmer explained that because the phones were monitored “[w]e talk in riddles.” App. 972, ll. 8-19. He claimed at the prior trial that Petitioner told him “[t]hat my intelligence was wrong that she did not have the 2800 [dollars], that he completed the construction job that he was working on and that he had burned excess material and was pleased with the job and didn’t see any complications.” App. 972, l. 20 – 973, l. 2. Farmer said he took this to mean that the decedent did not have the money, that Petitioner killed her, and burned her body. App. 973, ll. 3-14.

Farmer later admitted to a clinical psychology student, Kimberly Turner, who interviewed him in a Texas prison the month of Petitioner’s retrial, that he did not tell the truth during Petitioner’s first trial and that he wanted to tell the truth “this time.” App. 1154, ll. 2-6. Farmer told Turner that he “put a spin” on the facts during Petitioner first trial at the urging of the prosecution to make Petitioner “look bad” and “worse than he was.” App. 1152, l. 13 – 1153, l. 14.

Farmer now maintained in May 2006 that he only heard from Petitioner after the murder, and that he was “completely surprised” by the telephone call. App. 1151, l. 16 – 1152, l. 5. However, he still claimed Petitioner was talking to him in “code” and that he confessed to the murder. App. 1149, l. 16 – 1150, l. 15.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review in post-conviction relief (PCR) cases depends on the specific issue before the Court. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). The Court defers to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. Id. (citing Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016)). The Court reviews questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts. Id. at 180-181, 810 S.E.2d at 839-840 (citing Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527).

## ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief (PCR) judge erred by finding trial counsel was not ineffective when he failed to request and obtain an instruction from the trial court that star witness Robert “Bo” Southerland could not testify concerning Petitioner’s prior armed robbery convictions, since such evidence was inadmissible and unfairly prejudicial, and where Petitioner was prejudiced since he testified at trial and his credibility was crucial to his defense.

### **Relevant Facts**

Before Petitioner testified at trial, the trial judge addressed the admissibility of Petitioner’s prior convictions *in camera*. The solicitor wished to impeach Petitioner with his 1977 convictions for housebreaking, grand larceny, and armed robbery. App. 1047, ll. 3-14. Trial counsel argued these convictions were too remote as more than ten years had passed since the convictions occurred. Consequently, he asserted all of the convictions were inadmissible pursuant to Rule 609, SCRE. App. 1047, ll. 15-24. The solicitor maintained the convictions were admissible because they were close in time to when the murder for which Petitioner was being retried occurred and, as to the armed robbery and larceny convictions, they were crimes of dishonesty. The solicitor further maintained that trial counsel had waived any objection to the admissibility of the convictions because he discussed them during his opening statement.<sup>4</sup> App. 1048, l. 1 – 1050, l. 2.

Trial counsel argued he had not waived any objection to the identities of the crimes and their dates. App. 1050, ll. 6-18. He added that the similarity of the crime of armed robbery to the armed robbery for which Petitioner was being tried increased the prejudicial effect of admitting the conviction. However, for whatever reason, trial counsel conceded the same argument did not apply

---

<sup>4</sup> In his opening statement, trial counsel told the jury, “And we want you to know and we’ll tell you right now that when Bo Southerland was a career criminal in his early 30’s, he committed a long series of crimes and he had along with him a 17-year-old kid named Tony Cooper [Petitioner]. And they both went to prison together. And they both got out in 1988.” App. 421, l. 20 – 422, l. 25.

to the housebreaking and grand larceny convictions because Petitioner was not on trial for those offenses despite the fact that the underlying facts of the case dealt with an alleged housebreaking and larceny. App. 1051, ll. 12-20.

The trial judge ultimately ruled Petitioner's housebreaking and grand larceny convictions were admissible but excluded the armed robbery conviction because it was too similar to the offense for which Petitioner was being tried. App. 1051, ll. 21-24. Later during Petitioner's trial testimony, trial counsel elicited evidence about Petitioner's housebreaking and grand larceny convictions during direct examination as well as Petitioner's fifteen year sentence for those convictions. App. 1204, ll. 13-20.

During Petitioner's PCR hearing in 2017, trial counsel admitted he anticipated Robert "Bo" Southerland would be a difficult witness. He was also aware that Petitioner and Southerland were codefendants in 1977 and were both convicted of multiple counts of armed robbery, housebreaking, and larceny. App. 1638, l. 25 – 1640, l. 19. Despite this, counsel did not consider requesting the trial judge to instruct Southerland not to discuss Petitioner's prior record.<sup>5</sup> Counsel admitted he had no strategic reason for failing to do so, he simply "didn't think of it." App. 1640, l. 20 – 1641, l. 7.

During trial counsel's cross-examination of Southerland, while counsel was questioning Southerland about his prior record, the following exchange took place:

Q: And then on November 22nd, 1976, you were convicted of armed robbery and received an 18 year sentence, correct?

A: Which county?

---

<sup>5</sup> Curiously, before Southerland testified, trial counsel requested the trial judge instruct Southerland not to discuss the fact that Petitioner was on death row and to instead refer to death row by its proper name such as the "Edisto Unit." The trial judge instructed the witness accordingly. App. 696, l. 12 – 697, l. 22. However, counsel did not make a similar request as to Petitioner's prior convictions.

Q: That would be - - well, that's not Clarendon County and it's not Richland County?

A: It was Fairfield County.

Q: So that would be Fairfield County?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And you were also convicted of armed robbery on January 17th, 1977 in Clarendon County?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: You got a 15 year sentence for that?

A: In that first one, Fairfield County, I was acquitted.

Q: So if the records show that you were convicted and got an 18 year sentence, the records must be wrong?

A: I caught, let's see, 15 - - 15, 18, and 18, Dorchester, Berkeley, and Clarendon County, 15, 18, and 18. That's all the - -

Q: All armed robberies?

A: Yes, sir.

**Q: You were committed and convicted of three separate armed robberies in three separate counties?**

**A: Yes, sir. *Your client, Tony Cooper, was my codefendant.***

Q: Excuse me, I'm asking you about your record, if you don't mind.

A: Yes, sir. Well, I'm explaining to you who my codefendant was.

Mr. Bell [The Solicitor]: Your Honor, he's allowed to explain his answer.

The Court: No. He's asking a question about his record. Go head.

App. 774, l. 15 – 775, l. 25 (emphasis added).

During the PCR hearing, Bruck said he did not foresee that Southerland would “volunteer that information unresponsively to a question,” but “[k]nowing Bo Southerland as I then did, I

probably should have foreseen that” and requested a proper instruction from the trial court *in limine*. App. 1677, l. 15 – 1678, l. 1.

### **PCR Court’s Ruling**

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