**RECEIVED**

**May 20 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Lexington County  
The Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2018-001149

---

GENE TONY COOPER,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE,

Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Chief Deputy Attorney General**

**MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III  
Senior Assistant Attorney General**

**P. O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305**

**ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT**

**

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

Q So if the records show that you were convicted and got an 18 year sentence, the records must be wrong?

A I caught, let's see, 15 -- 15, 18 and 18, Dorchester, Berkeley and Clarendon County, 15, 18, and 18. That's all the --

Q All armed robberies?

A Yes, sir.

Q You were committed and convicted of three separate armed robberies in three separate counties?

A Yes, sir. Your client, Tony Cooper, was my codefendant.

Q Excuse me, I'm asking about your record, if you don't mind.

A Yes, sir. Well, I'm explaining to you who my codefendant was.

MR. BELL: Your Honor, he's allowed to explain his answer.

THE COURT: No. He's asking a question about his record.  
Go ahead.

*App. 775, lines 13-25.*

Mr. Bruck testified at the PCR hearing that he was aware Cooper and Southerland were co-defendants in the armed robberies for which Cooper had been previously convicted, and that he had anticipated Southerland would be a difficult witness before Southerland testified. In his answer to counsel's question, Southerland "blurted out unresponsively" that Cooper was his co-defendant in the armed robberies. Mr. Bruck did not think of making a motion *in limine* to

prohibit Southerland from mentioning Cooper’s convictions or requesting a curative instruction because he did not foresee that Southerland would “volunteer that information unresponsively to a question” even though he speculated, in hindsight, “I probably should have foreseen that.” *App. 1640-41; 1677-78*. *Contra Strickland*, 668 U.S. at 689 (explaining that a reviewing court must “reconstruct the circumstances of counsel’s challenged conduct” and “evaluate the conduct from counsel’s perspective at the time”).<sup>10</sup> *See also Willis v. United States*, 87 F.3d 1004, 1006 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1996) (“In hindsight, there are a few, if any, cross-examinations that could not be improved upon. If that were the standard of constitutional effectiveness, few would be the counsel whose performance would pass muster”).

Still, Mr. Bruck agreed that Southerland was constantly evasive on cross-examination and had repeatedly attempted to interject Cooper’s involvement in the murder, as opposed to answering the questions asked of him by Mr. Bruck. Also, Mr. Bruck later used Southerland’s evasiveness in closing argument as one of the reasons that jurors should find that Southerland was not credible. *App. 1678*.

The contested remarks by Southerland were unresponsive to the question posed and it is clear the trial judge found that his response was not proper. Also, the trial judge instructed jurors that they could not consider any of Cooper’s prior legal proceedings in their deliberations (*App.*

---

<sup>10</sup> The Supreme Court has consistently applied the rule of contemporary assessment of counsel’s conduct. *E.g.*, *Maryland v. Kulbicki*, 136 S.Ct. 2, 3 (2015); *Rompilla v. Beard*, 545 U.S. 374, 381 (2005); *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 523 (2003); *Bell v. Cone*, 535 U.S. 685, 698 (2002); *Lockhart v. Fretwell*, 506 U.S. 364, 372 (1993); *Burger v. Kemp*, 483 U.S. 776, 789 (1987); *Darden v. Wainwright*, 477 U.S. 168, 185 (1986); *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365, 384 (1986). South Carolina courts have also consistently applied this standard. *E.g.*, *Patterson v. State*, 359 S.C. 115, 118, 597 S.E.2d 150, 151 (2004) (“An attorney is not required to anticipate potential changes in the law, which are not in existence at the time of the conviction”); *Gilmore v. State*, 314 S.C. 453, 445 S.E.2d 454 (1994) (attorney is not required to be clairvoyant or anticipate changes in the law which were not in existence at time of trial), *overruled on other grds.*, *Brightman v. State*, 336 S.C. 348, 520 S.E.2d 614 (1999).

1487, line 2-13) and that they only consider evidence of another crime or misconduct by a witness on the limited issue of credibility. *App. 1508, lines 13-25*. “[It is] the almost invariable assumption of the law that jurors follow their instructions” *United States v. Olano*, 507 U.S. 725, 740 (1993) (citing *Richardson v. Marsh*, 481 U.S. 200, 206 (1987)). Because Cooper testified at trial, these instructions prevented jurors from considering any past misconduct by him on the question of his guilt or innocence. *Id.* See also *Olano*, 507 U.S. at 740-741 (“ “[We] presum[e] that jurors, conscious of the gravity of their task, attend closely the particular language of the trial court's instructions in a criminal case and strive to understand, make sense of, and follow the instructions given them’ ”) (citing *Francis v. Franklin*, 471 U.S. 307, 324, n. 9 (1985)); *Weeks v. Angelone*, 528 U.S. 225, 234 (2000) (“[a] jury is presumed to follow its instructions”) (citing *Richardson*, 481 U.S. at 211). Indeed, in assessing prejudice for purposes of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the Court in *Strickland* admonished that “a court should presume ... that the judge or jury acted according to law.” 466 U.S. at 694.

Also, this Court has previously found that the trial judge in this case did not abuse his discretion in allowing the State to introduce Cooper’s 1977 convictions for housebreaking and grand larceny under Rule 609, S.C. R. Evid., in part, because the trial judge “gave a limiting charge to the jury explaining Cooper's convictions could only be considered for impeachment purposes.” *State v. Cooper*, 386 S.C. 210, 223, 687 S.E.2d 62, 69 (Ct. App. 2009), *cert. dismissed as improvidently granted*, 400 S.C. 256, 734 S.E.2d 166 (2012), *cert. denied*, 569 U.S. 976 (2013) (*Cooper III*). Accord *State v. Staley*, 294 S.C. 451, 365 S.E.2d 729 (1988) (trial judge's refusal of defendant's submitted charge limiting use of evidence of his prior convictions solely for impeachment purposes constituted reversible error; failure to charge was especially damaging given defendant was on trial for the same offense for which he had been previously

convicted); *State v. Bryant*, 307 S.C. 458, 415 S.E.2d 806 (1992) (trial judge’s failure to give a charge limiting testimony of defendant’s prior criminal record solely for impeachment purposes constituted reversible error and could not be considered harmless).

Cooper’s reliance on *Green v. State*, 338 S.C. 428, 527 S.E.2d 98 (2000), and *United States v. Beahm*, 664 F.2d 414 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1981), is misplaced because both cases involve the prosecution’s impeachment of a testifying defendant with prior convictions. See *Green*, 338 S.C. at 434, 527 S.E.2d at 101;<sup>11</sup> *Beahm*, 664 F.2d at 418 (the district court erred by admitting an eleven year old sodomy conviction for impeachment purposes under Rule 609(b), Fed. R. Evid. because it was more than ten years old and “the district court not only failed to make any express finding that the probative value substantially outweighed the prejudicial effect of the evidence, but the record [was] silent both as to any specific facts supporting the probative value of the conviction for impeachment purposes, or showing how its probative value substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect”).<sup>12</sup>

*Green* and *Beahm* are only relevant to a claim that the defendant was erroneously impeached with a prior conviction(s) under Rule 609, SCRE. Again, this Court denied certiorari to review denial of relief on Cooper’s Issue 2, which raised this claim. The present claim does not involve the State’s impeachment of Cooper with his prior convictions. Instead, this claim

---

<sup>11</sup> The Court in *Green* found that “[l]imiting instructions alone do not make an erroneous admission of prior conviction evidence harmless.” *Id.*

<sup>12</sup> In *dicta*, the Fourth Circuit added that “admission of evidence of a similar offense often does little to impeach the credibility of a testifying defendant while undoubtedly prejudicing him. The jury, despite limiting instructions, can hardly avoid drawing the inference that the past conviction suggests some probability that defendant committed the similar offense for which he is currently charged.” *Id.* at 418-19 (footnote omitted). The Court likewise found that admission of a nine year old conviction for impeachment purposes was reversible error. *Id.* at 419-20.

relates to counsel's failure to anticipate and try to prevent Southerland's evasive responses on cross-examination, which presented evidence of other bad acts by Cooper, by making a motion in limine. Accordingly, *Green* and *Beahm* are irrelevant to the issue of whether the PCR judge erred in denying relief on this claim.

Further, counsel thoroughly cross-examined Southerland concerning the details of the crimes to which he had testified on direct examination; his activities in the days immediately before and after the murder; his claim that he had only used the phone at the Cooper residence once; his claim that he had never spoken to Red Farmer; the various different statements that he had made about the murder;<sup>13</sup> the fact his picture is in the photographic lineup introduced as State's Ex. 2; his claim that he had given a statement accepting full responsibility for the murder because Cooper had communicated a threat to him through three death row inmates, who had since been executed and could not be cross-examined; his claim that Cooper had told him what to say in that statement; that when his attorneys got a restraining order prohibiting Mr. Bruck from having further contact with him, he wrote Judge Keesley, stated he did not agree with his attorneys, and attempted to have Judge Keesley deny his attorneys' request; that he had given a similar statement to *The State* newspaper and repeated a similar story to "[a]nybody and everybody;" that he had given similar statements to death row inmate Norman Starnes and to two women who were church volunteers at the prison, Ms. Betts Davis and Ms. Naida Knotts; that he had continued to claim full responsibility for the crimes until 2006; that he had spent over thirty

---

<sup>13</sup> For instance, he admittedly lied to SLED when questioned about the crime on October 10, 1989, when he told officers he was at the apartment complex on the afternoon before the murder but did not know anything about the murder. *App. 729-32; 491*. Also, he gave two statements to Mr. Bruck following his 1992 death sentence and he did not want his own attorney to know that he had done so. He took full responsibility for the murder in these statements and exonerated Cooper. *App. 742-52; 755-64*.

years in prison; his remaining criminal history in addition to the armed robbery convictions; that the State had dropped the death penalty in exchange for his testimony against Cooper; and, counsel even cross-examined him about his claim that he had cried after the murder, the fact no one witnessed this and that the only other time he acknowledged crying was when his mother died.

Additionally, counsel introduced the two statements that Southerland had given to counsel as Defendant's Exs. 1 and 2 and he published these to the jury. Counsel also presented Starnes, Ms. Bessie "Betts" Davis, and Ms. Knotts as witnesses. They testified about the admissions that Southerland had made to each of them and that there was no apparent tension between Southerland and Cooper. *App. 1038-47* (Starnes); *App. 1068-77* (Ms. Davis); *App. 1081-90* (Ms. Knotts). Counsel later used this impeaching information in his closing argument to assail Southerland's credibility. *See App. 1387-99; 1405-22*. Included in counsel's attack on Southerland's credibility were the following comments about his evasiveness on cross-examination:

And unlike Mr. Farmer, who you have yet to lay eyes on, Mr. Sutherland at least shuffled in here with that expression that none of you will probably ever forget and you got to see how he dodged and weaved and played games with me. He was willing to answer the State's questions, but when it came for cross-examination, forget it.

*App. 1388, lines 11-17.*

Of course, even assuming that counsel had made a motion *in limine*, there is nothing in the present record that suggests, much less creates a reasonable probability under *Strickland*, that the motion would have been granted. To the contrary, the PCR judge correctly found that "counsel reasonably understood that evidence of [Cooper's] prior incarceration [was admissible] under Rule 404(b), SCRE, to establish identity and other exceptions." *App. 1748*. See Rule

404(b), SCRE. Likewise, this evidence was admissible because it formed part of the *res gestae* of the crimes for which he was on trial because it “furnishe[d] part of the context of the crime” and was necessary to a “full presentation” of the case. *See State v. Wiles*, 383 S.C. 151, 158–59, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009); *State v. Adams*, 322 S.C. 114, 122, 470 S.E.2d 366, 370-71 (1996). *See also State v. Owens*, 346 S.C. 637, 552 S.E.2d 745 (2001); *United States v. Masters*, 622 F.2d 83, 86 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1980); *United States v. Kimball*, 73 F.3d 269, 272 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995) (evidence of defendant's recent release from prison, including evidence that his inmate number was found on coffee pot in motel room along with tablet containing imprint of robbery demand note and that his clothing worn at time of his release from prison was identical to clothing of robber, was admissible as part of *res gestae* in bank robbery prosecution); *United States v. Champion*, 813 F.2d 1154, 172-73 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1987). ***App. 1748-49.***

Finally, Respondent submits that there was overwhelming evidence of Cooper’s guilt, notwithstanding his argument to the contrary. The State's evidence showed - primarily through the prior testimony of Farmer and Southerland’s eyewitness testimony<sup>14</sup> - that this was a premeditated armed robbery, which Cooper quickly escalated to murder once he learned that he would receive less than \$200.00 for the crimes. He carried out the crimes and post-mortem efforts to conceal the victim's identity in a brutally macabre fashion and, once he had finished the

---

<sup>14</sup> In support of his contention that the proof of his guilt was not overwhelming, Cooper cites to *Cooper v. Moore*, 351 S.C. 207, 215-17, 569 S.E.2d 330, 334-35 (2002) (*Cooper II*). His reliance is misplaced. The primary evidence of Cooper’s involvement in the conspiracy and murder in the original trial in *State v. Cooper*, 312 S.C. 90, 94, 439 S.E.2d 276, 278 (1994), *overruled*, *Franklin v. Catoe*, 346 S.C. 563, 552 S.E.2d 718 (2001) (*Cooper I*), was the circumstantial evidence from Farmer. Neither Southerland nor any other eyewitness testified at the original trial.

Unlike *Cooper I*, Southerland, who was present at the inception of the conspiracy with Farmer and an eyewitness to the murder, testified at his retrial in *Cooper III*, and his testimony was corroborated in most details by other witnesses.

murder and disposed of the victim's hands and feet, and his ax, he ate two hotdogs before washing either himself or his clothing. In order to have acquitted Cooper the jury would have had to accept that virtually every single prosecution fact witness either lied or was mistaken. *See Order, App. 1744-45*. In light of this overwhelming evidence of his guilt, Cooper has not and cannot show prejudice from counsel's performance. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 696 ("... a verdict or conclusion only weakly supported by the record is more likely to have been affected by errors than one with overwhelming record support"). *Cf. id.* at 700 (with respect to the death sentence imposed on Strickland, the Court held that "[g]iven the overwhelming aggravating factors, there is no reasonable probability that the omitted evidence would have changed the conclusion that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances and, hence, the sentence imposed").

In light of the trial judge's limiting instructions, counsel's opening statement, counsel's thorough impeachment of Southerland's credibility, and the overwhelming evidence of guilt, the PCR judge correctly found that there was no prejudice from counsel's failure to either request an *in limine* instruction before Southerland testified or a curative instruction after he made the unresponsive comment that Cooper was his co-defendant in the armed robberies.

### CONCLUSION

Respondent submits that the Court should either dismiss certiorari as improvidently granted or affirm the PCR judge's denial of Cooper's claim for the foregoing reasons.